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Attachment F
2.4   Technical Proposal
The Technical Proposal must be divided into the sections as described below.  Every point made in each section must be addressed in the order given. The same outline numbers must be used in the response. RFP language should not be repeated within the response. Where appropriate, supporting documentation may be referenced by a page and paragraph number. However, when this is done, the body of the technical proposal must contain a meaningful summary of the referenced material. The referenced document must be included as an appendix to the technical proposal with referenced sections clearly marked. If there are multiple references or multiple documents, these must be listed and organized for ease of use by the State. 
2.4.1 Technical Requirements for Conducting Indiana BRFSS

1. Contractor must have a minimum of three years experience conducting the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey.  

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



2. The Contractor shall program all Year 2014 BRFSS questions and response categories in the Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI) system before January 1, 2014.  This system shall be provided by the Contractor.  The survey must begin on January 2, 2014.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



3. The Contractor will assume all responsibility for contractual activities and be solely responsible for data collection, sampling and editing data. This service is not to be completed by a sub-contractor.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



4. The Contractor will conduct interviews in accordance with procedures and specifications supplied by the CDC and ISDH.  This will include, but not be limited to, conducting interviews during the two-week time intervals each month as specified by the CDC, randomly selecting an adult respondent to interview in each household and providing monthly raw data sets to the BRFSS Coordinator and CDC in the format specified.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



5. Use of the disproportionate stratified random-digit dialing sampling design is required of the Contractor to insure that the sample represents all occupied Indiana households with telephones. No substitutions will be entertained.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.


	



6. The Contractor will be able to provide an Indiana-appropriate Spanish version of the survey for a respondent when needed.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

With an answer of yes, describe Contractor’s process for developing an Indiana-appropriate Spanish version of the surveys and describe the process for using the Spanish version.

	



7. If the Contractor discovers problems in reviewing the BRFSS or Asthma Call Back data sets, the Contractor must notify the BRFSS Coordinator and correct errors within two (2) weeks of the discovery at no cost to the ISDH.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

With an answer of yes, explain the process of notifying and providing documentation and corrected data files to the BRFSS Coordinator and CDC.

	



8. If the BRFSS Coordinator or CDC finds problems in reviewing the BRFSS or Asthma Call Back data sets, the Contractor must correct these to the satisfaction of the BRFSS Coordinator and/or the CDC within two weeks of notification at no cost to the ISDH.  

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

With an answer of yes, explain the process of acknowledging notice by CDC or BRFSS Coordinator of errors and corrections needed.  

The BRFSS Coordinator and/or CDC may require the Contractor to implement additional quality assurance tests of data at no cost to the BRFSS program.

	



9. Following CDC BRFSS protocols, the Contractor must use CDC Editfix program to edit and clean completed interviews, including data consistency checks, and provide the BRFSS Coordinator and the CDC a standard, reliable data set for each month’s survey by the 15th day of the subsequent month.  

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

With an answer of yes, describe the editing and correction process.  How will the standard, reliable data set for each month be provided to the BRFSS Coordinator?

	



10. For the purposes of transmitting data and for communication facilitation among the Contractor, the CDC and the BRFSS Coordinator’s office, the Contractor must utilize the CDC BRFSS Data Submission site to submit the monthly data files to the CDC.

By answering yes or no, indicate the Contractor’s acceptance of this requirement.

	



11. The Contractor shall develop and maintain procedures to ensure confidentiality of information provided by the survey respondents.  

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

With an answer of yes, describe Contractor’s process for developing the Contractor’s policy and procedure for maintaining confidentiality of information provided by the survey respondents.  Explain process of notifying the ISDH BRFSS Coordinator of a breach of confidentiality.  Describe discipline and consequences for breach of confidentiality.  Explain Contractor’s remedy for disclosure of confidential information.  

	



12. The Contractor will sign a contract that includes a statement that the ISDH and CDC retain all rights to the completed studies and compiled data sets and reports in electronic, written and disk form.  The data cannot be used for any other purposes except for the completion of the contract unless explicitly agreed to in writing by ISDH and CDC.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement

	



13. The Contractor must provide a list of all employees working on the BRFSS project to the BRFSS Coordinator within one week of hire.  The Contractor must identify which employee(s) will be the communication contact for the BRFSS Coordinator.  The Contractor must provide all essential information to ensure that communication by phone, email and fax is available during normal weekdays between 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m.

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



14. The Contractor will send one representative to the annual CDC BRFSS conference at no cost to the ISDH. 

By answering yes or no, indicate whether the Contractor meets this requirement.

	



15. Describe criteria used to select the professional staff including the project manager and other non-interviewers assigned to fulfill the services stated through this RFP.  Include experience with similar clients, (government clients are preferred), quantity of years performing similar services, education, training, background checks performed and other factors the Contractor will take into consideration.
	



16. Describe criteria used to recruit and select qualified interviewers including background check process and criteria.  Explain the training process Contractor requires the interviewers to undergo.  Explain the evaluation process for BRFSS interviewers’ over all job performance.  What is the retention statistic for the Contractor of the interviewers who will work on the BRFSS survey? Explain what efforts are made to maximize retention. 
	



17. For the BRFSS survey, the Contractor will make every effort to complete no fewer than 350 landline and 150 cell phone interviews each month, for a total of no fewer than 6,000 completed interviews (1,800 cell and 4,200 landline) over the twelve-month period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014.  CDC recommends a targeted response rate of at least 75%, as calculated by the Council of American Survey Research Organization’s (CASRO) response rate method.  Describe how the Contractor will maximize the response rate.  Include Contractor’s definition of “make every effort.”
                   
	



18. There is a possibility that for one or two years of a possible four year contract up to 10,000 additional surveys may be required.  Describe how the Contractor will manage the additional capacity, surveys and cost for completion for up to 10,000 additional surveys.  Contractor will notify CDC of any needed changes in landline and/or cell phone sample via the CDC’s quarterly sample request form.

	



19. Prior to January 1, 2014, ISDH requests an opportunity to preview and approve the survey before implementation.  In addition, by January 1, 2014, ISDH requests an electronic copy of the final interview schedule in a readable “user-friendly” format (e.g., an electronic copy of the questionnaire that includes skip pattern directions), and make available the entire CATI questionnaire file to the BRFSS Coordinator.  Both items must be provided in a machine-readable format to the BRFSS Coordinator. 

Describe when a preview of the survey will be available to ISDH. Indicate ability to provide the final interview schedule no later than January 1, 2014.  Explain what readable “user-friendly” format the preview and the final interview schedule will be provided.

	



20. What software system for data collection is used by the Contractor? 

	



21. No questions may be added, deleted or altered in any way from the BRFSS questionnaire without prior knowledge and approval from the BRFSS Coordinator or director, designated staff of the Data Analysis Team, and/or designated staff from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.  New questions may be added within a time period upon mutual agreement between the BRFSS Coordinator and ISDH staff designated by the Data Analysis Team and Contractor. 
 What is required from the ISDH for questions to be added, deleted or altered in any way from the BRFSS questionnaire? What is the time period that the additions, deletions, or alterations will be completed?
	



22. For the following two (2) scenarios, explain what is the Contractor’s process to add state-added questions? What is required from the ISDH for questions to be added? What is the time period that the additions will be completed? Explain the pre-testing process of new add-on or state-added questions provided at no cost by the Contractor. Cost estimates for add-on or state added questions will be provided by the Contractor at no cost to the ISDH. Cost for each scenario question to be given in Attachment D, Cost Proposal.
A.	Scenario One:
Asked of all respondents:
For the next few questions, I will be asking you about prescription pain medication, NOT medication that is available over the counter.  In the past year, did you use any pain medications that were prescribed to you by your doctor?
Yes
No
Don’t know/not sure
Refused

[for those answering ‘yes’ to above question] The last time you filled a prescription for pain medication, what did you do with the leftover medication?
[Please read responses 1-7]
1. Did not have any medication left over
1. Kept it
1. Disposed of it in the trash or toilet
1. Turned it in to a drug take-back program
1. Gave it to someone else
1. Sold it
1. Other
77. Don’t know/not sure
99. Refused

	



	B.	Scenario Two:

		Questions asked of respondents for a certain age and sex

[Question asked of males ages 40 years and older] Have you ever had a PSA test? [Interviewer note:  a Prostate-specific antigen test, also called a PSA test, is a blood test used to check men for prostate cancer]
Yes
No
Don’t know/not sure
Refused

[For those answering ‘yes’ to above question] Which one of the following best describes the decision to have the PSA test done?
[read 1-4 only if necessary]
1. You made the decision alone
1. Your doctor, nurse, or other health professional made the decision alone
1. You and one or more persons made the decision together
1. You don’t remember how the decision was made
1. Don’t know/not sure
Refused

	



23. What is the Contractor’s process of reviewing monthly and quarterly sample quantity information from CDC? As a result of the review, when and how will the Contractor communicate to CDC and BRFSS Coordinator the status toward reaching the targeted number of completes per month within each quarter? 
	



24. The Contractor must demonstrate extensive supervision of the interviewing process and maintaining data quality.  Experience is essential to the assessment of the Contractor’s ability to detect systematic, recurring errors within the surveillance operation.  Experience can be demonstrated by listing, at a minimum, eight to ten studies utilizing telephone interviewing procedures and identifying the number of phone interviews and interviewers associated with each identified project.  Because of its complicated nature, BRFSS experience should be emphasized in the Contractor’s proposal.
 
	



25. The Contractor is expected to select interviews to verify, and identify factors that contribute to the uniqueness of the interview such as number of adults, number of children and age of respondent.  This is CDC recommended, but it is not required if using systematic, unobtrusive electronic interviewer monitoring.  

Describe how the Contractor will assure quality assurance.  What percentage of the interviews will the Contractor select to complete the quality assurance process? Explain how and how frequently the verification will be provided to the BRFSS Coordinator.

	



26. Describe how interviews are monitored at no cost to ISDH? Does it include simultaneous video monitoring for data entry? Describe what information will be provided including the format it will be provided in and when it will be provided to the BRFSS? 

	



27. How may the BRFSS Coordinator simultaneously monitor both oral and visual (data entry) at no cost to ISDH? Explain process and technical requirements for the ISDH in order to allow off site monitoring.

	



28.  Explain what documentation will be made available to the BRFSS Coordinator in support of costs including but not limited to personnel time records signed and approved by the Contractor, additional records supporting computer time and equipment rental, telephone lines, supplies, and other costs relating to collection of BRFSS data.  Explain when the requested documentation is available upon being notified by the BRFSS Coordinator. 

	



29. The Contractor will provide the following items to the BRFSS Coordinator:
a. A record layout and code book for any questions added by the BRFSS program Coordinator and the ISDH.  All questions must be provided to the BRFSS Coordinator at least two weeks in advance of the questions being implemented in the survey.
b. Monthly frequencies (number of attempts, completes, average interview length, non-attempt records and average attempt count) and a final disposition summary.

	



30. Describe the process including the factors taken into consideration to determine the costs of the core questionnaire, surveys and the optional modules.

	



[bookmark: _Toc183226889]31. Contractor’s Disaster Recovery Plan: Disaster Recovery Plans are intended to be used to get the application up and running again to minimize disruption.  Explain and provide the Disaster Recovery Plan, including but not limited to, an off-site recovery location and the testing schedule.  

	



32.	Of the CDC modules not specified in RFP 2.5 and Attachment D, Cost Proposal, where future needs become known, describe the process to acquire a cost estimate to perform the additional modules. 

	



33.	For the following State added questions for Respondents who have served on active duty in the US Armed Forces explain what is the Contractor’s process to these questions? What is required from the ISDH for the questions to be added? What is the time period that the additions will be completed? Explain the pre-testing process of the state-added questions provided at no cost by the Contractor. List the cost for the State added questions in Attachment D, Cost Proposal.
1.                     Did you ever serve in a combat or war zone? 
(369) 
1          Yes 
2          No 
1. Don’t know / Not sure 
9          Refused 
 
 
2.                     Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you have depression, anxiety, or post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)? 
(370) 
1          Yes 
2          No 
7          Don’t know / Not sure 
9          Refused
 
 
3.                     A traumatic brain injury may result from a violent blow to the head or when an object pierces the skull and enters the brain tissue. Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that you have suffered a traumatic brain injury (TBI)? 
(371) 
1          Yes 
2          No 
7          Don’t know / Not sure 
9          Refused 
 
 
4.                     In the past 12 months, did you receive any psychological or psychiatric counseling or treatment? 
(372) 
Please read: 
 
1          Yes, from a VA facility 
2          Yes, from a non-VA facility 
3          Yes, from both VA and non-VA facilities 
4          No 
 
Do not read: 
 
7          Don’t know / Not sure 
9          Refused 
 
The next few questions are a sensitive topic and some people may feel uncomfortable with these questions. At the end of this section, I will give you a phone number for an organization that can provide information and referral for these issues. Please keep in mind that you can ask me to skip any question you do not want to answer.
 
5.                     Has there been a time in the past 12 months when you thought of taking your own life? 
(373) 
1          Yes 
2          No                                	[Go to next module] 
7          Don’t know / Not sure    [Go to next module] 
9          Refused                        	[Go to next module] 
 
 
6.                     During the past 12 months, did you attempt to commit suicide? Would you say--- 
(374) 
Please read: 
 
1          Yes, but did not require treatment 
2          Yes, was treated at a VA facility 
3          Yes, was treated at a non-VA facility 
4          No 
 
Do not read: 
 
1. Don’t know / Not sure 
9          Refused
 
As I mentioned, I would give you a phone number for an organization that can provide information and referral for these issues. You can dial the National Crisis line at 1-800-273-TALK (8255). You can also speak directly to your doctor or health provider.

	



34.  For the following State added questions for Respondents who have had a PSA test explain what is the Contractor’s process to these questions? What is required from the ISDH for the questions to be added? What is the time period that the additions will be completed? Explain the pre-testing process of the state-added questions provided at no cost by the Contractor. List the cost for the State added questions in Attachment D, Cost Proposal.
0. Have you ever had a PSA test?
0. 1 Yes
0. 2 No
0. 7 Don’t know/not sure
0. 9 Refused
0. Which one of the following best describes the decision to have the PSA test done?
1. 1 You made the decision alone
1. 2 Your doctor, nurse, or health provider made the decision alone
1. 3 You and one or more other persons made the decision together
1. 4  You don’t remember how the decision was made
1. 7 Don’t know/not sure
1. 9 Refused
0. Who made the decision with you? (mark up to four responses)
2. 1 Doctor/nurse/health care provider
2. 2 Spouse, significant other
2. 3 Other family member
2. 4 Friend/non-relative
2. 7 Don’t know/not sure
2. 9 Refused
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